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INTRODUCTION 

This appeal arises from an enforcement action brought by the Federal Trade 

Commission pursuant to its authority under the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 41 et seq., 

for a permanent injunction against Defendants-Appellees Endo Pharmaceuticals 

Inc.; Endo International plc, Impax Laboratories, LLC, and Amneal 

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to prevent unfair methods of competition in violation of 

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). Specifically, the FTC filed a 

complaint alleging that Endo and Impax entered into an unlawful agreement not to 

compete for sales of oxymorphone ER, an opioid drug used for pain relief. The 

district court dismissed the complaint under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), and the FTC 

appealed.  

On August 16, 2022, Endo International plc, Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc., and 

their debtor affiliates filed voluntary petitions for relief under title 11 of the 

Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New 

York. See In re Endo International plc, et al., No. 22-22549-JLG (Bankr. 

S.D.N.Y.). The next day, Endo filed in this Court a “Notice of Suggestion of 

Bankruptcy and Automatic Stay of Proceedings,” citing 11 U.S.C. § 362(a), which 

automatically stays certain actions against debtors, subject to certain exceptions. 

Impax and Amneal (together “Impax”), however, have not petitioned for 
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bankruptcy protection. On August 18, 2022, the Court suspended the briefing 

schedule ordered in this case on July 14, 2022, pending further order of the Court. 

As explained below, the Bankruptcy Code’s automatic stay does not apply to 

government enforcement of its police and regulatory power, an exception that 

applies foursquare to this case. See 11 U.S.C. § 362(b)(4). Accordingly, in view of 

this Court’s suspension of the briefing schedule, the FTC requests that the Court 

reinstate the briefing schedule and restore this case to the active calendar. We 

further ask that any reinstated briefing schedule provide the FTC with at least 30 

days from the date of reinstatement to file its opening brief.1 

JURISDICTION 

The FTC filed the underlying action in the United States District Court for 

the District of Columbia seeking injunctive relief for violations of Section 5 of the 

Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45. The district court’s jurisdiction 

over the matter derived from 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), and 1345, and 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 53(b) and 57(b). The district court dismissed the FTC’s complaint on March 24, 

2022, and the FTC timely appealed on May 19, 2022. This Court has jurisdiction 

over the appeal under 28 U.S.C. § 1291. In addition, this Court has jurisdiction to 
 

1 The FTC had expected the Court to ask the parties to brief whether the appeal 
was subject to the Bankruptcy Code stay provision and exceptions thereto. When it 
did not, the FTC contacted the parties on August 30, 2022, to ascertain their 
position on reinstatement of the briefing schedule. Endo responded that “Endo 
takes no position on the applicability of the automatic stay.” Impax has not 
responded to the FTC’s inquiry. 
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determine whether the appeal is subject to the Bankruptcy Code automatic stay. 

See Paine Webber Jackson & Curtis, Inc. v. Baldwin-United Corp., 765 F.2d 343, 

347 (2d Cir. 1985). 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE COURT SHOULD REINSTATE THE BRIEFING SCHEDULE BECAUSE 
THIS APPEAL FALLS UNDER THE BANKRUPTCY CODE STAY 
EXCEPTION FOR GOVERNMENT ENFORCEMENT 

Section 362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code provides, in relevant part, that the 

filing of a bankruptcy petition operates as a stay of “the commencement or 

continuation … of a judicial, administrative or other action or proceeding against 

the debtor that was or could have been commenced before the [filing of the 

petition].” 11 U.S.C. § 362(a). This automatic stay provision is designed to 

centralize in the bankruptcy court all disputes concerning property of the debtor’s 

estate, prevent dissipation of assets, and provide for an orderly distribution to the 

debtor’s creditors. See SEC v. Brennan, 230 F.3d 65, 70 (2d Cir. 2000).  

The automatic stay provision, however, contains an exception for the 

“commencement or continuation” of an action “by a governmental unit … to 

enforce such governmental unit’s or organization’s police and regulatory power.” 

11 U.S.C. § 362(b)(4). The “purpose of this exception is to prevent a debtor from 

frustrating necessary governmental functions by seeking refuge in bankruptcy 

court.” Brennan, 230 F.3d at 71 (cleaned up); see also CFTC v. Co Petro Mktg. 
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Gp., 700 F.2d 1279, 1283 (9th Cir. 1983) (purpose “is to prevent the bankruptcy 

court from becoming a haven for wrongdoers”). As Congress explained, “where a 

governmental unit is suing a debtor to prevent or stop violation of fraud, 

environmental protection, consumer protection, safety, or similar policy or 

regulatory laws, … the action or proceeding is not stayed under the automatic 

stay.” H.R. Rep. No. 95-595 at 343 (1978), reprinted in 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6363, 

6299; S. Rep. 95-989 at 49 (1978), reprinted in 1978 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5787, 5838 

(same). 

To determine whether the exception applies, courts ask whether the 

government’s action is one to promote public safety, welfare, or public policy or 

whether it is meant to protect “the government’s pecuniary interest in the debtor’s 

property.” Safety-Kleen, Inc., (Pinewood) v. Wyche, 274 F.3d 846, 865 (4th Cir. 

2001); see also Universal Life Church, Inc. v. U.S., 128 F.3d 1294, 1297 (9th Cir. 

1997). If the purpose of the action is the former, the exception applies; if the latter, 

the exception does not apply. Safety-Kleen, Inc., 274 F.3d at 865; Universal Life 

Church, Inc., 128 F.3d at 1297.  

This appeal falls squarely within the “governmental unit” exception because 

the FTC’s action enforces the FTC Act’s prohibition on unfair methods of 

competition and does not seek to advance any government pecuniary interest in 

Endo’s assets. The FTC’s complaint alleged that Impax, the only seller of 
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oxymorphone ER, agreed to split its profits for sales of the drug with Endo, 

Impax’s only potential competitor, in exchange for Endo’s promise not to compete 

or license a third party to do so. (Endo owned patents claiming oxymorphone ER 

and had previously licensed Impax to produce and sell the drug.) The complaint 

alleged that their agreement violated the FTC Act’s prohibition of unfair methods 

of competition, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), and sought an injunction to permanently enjoin 

Endo and Impax from continuing their unlawful agreement and from engaging in 

similar conduct in the future.2 The FTC thus brought the complaint to enforce the 

FTC’s “police and regulatory power” under the FTC Act. 15 U.S.C. §§ 41, et seq. 

Courts have held the governmental unit exception to apply to enforcement 

actions that seek to vindicate a range of public interests. For example, in Lockyer v. 

Mirant Corp., 398 F.3d 1098, 1107-09 (9th Cir. 2005), the court held that the 

exception applied to a state attorney general’s antitrust action seeking divestiture of 

power plants to protect consumers from supra-competitive electricity rates. In 

Parkview Adventist Medical v. U.S., 842 F.3d 757, 764 (1st Cir. 2016), the court 

 
2 The FTC’s complaint originally sought equitable monetary relief, but the FTC 

is not currently doing so in light of the Supreme Court’s ruling in AMG Capital 
Management, LLC v. FTC, 141 S. Ct. 1341, 1347 (2021), that the FTC Act does 
not authorize such relief. When the FTC is authorized to seek monetary relief, 
however, Section 362(b)(4)’s governmental unit exception still applies. See 
Brennan, 230 F.3d at 71 (“governmental unit exception of § 362(b)(4) permits the 
entry of a money judgment so long as the proceeding in which such a judgment is 
entered is one to enforce the governmental unit’s police or regulatory power”) 
(emphasis in original) 
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held the exception applied to an HHS suit to terminate a hospital’s Medicare 

contract to protect the public interest in preserving Medicare program money. In 

EEOC v. Rath Packing Co., 787 F.2d 318, 325 (8th Cir. 1986), the court held the 

exception to apply to an EEOC suit seeking to vindicate the public interest in 

preventing employment discrimination. In Commonwealth Oil Refining Co., Inc. v. 

EPA, 805 F.2d 1175, 1183 (5th. Cir. 1986), the court held that the exception 

applied to an EPA suit to enforce environmental protection laws. And in U.S. 

International Trade Commission v. Jaffe, 433 B.R. 538, 545 (E.D. Va. 2010), the 

court held that the exception applied to an ITC proceeding seeking to enjoin the 

importation of goods that infringed on U.S. patents and protecting the public 

interest in competition. 

Indeed, numerous courts have applied these principles in finding that FTC 

Act enforcement actions fall within the governmental unit exception to the 

automatic stay. E.g., FTC v. Consumer Health Benefits Ass’n, No. 10-cv-3551, 

2011 WL 2341097 (E.D.N.Y. Jun. 8, 2011); FTC v. Holiday Enters., Inc., No. 

1:06-cv-2939, 2008 WL 953358, at *12 (N.D. Ga. Feb. 5, 2008); FTC v. 

AmeriDebt, Inc., 343 F. Supp. 2d 451, 458-59 (D. Md. 2004); In re First Alliance 

Mortg. Co., 264 B.R. 634 (C.D. Cal. 2001); FTC v. U.S. Rarities, Inc., No. 92-363-

CIV, 1992 WL 696965 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 24, 1992); FTC v. R.A. Walker & Assocs., 

Inc., 37 B.R. 608, 610 (D.D.C. 1983). 
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Although this Court’s reinstating the briefing schedule would mean that 

Endo would incur litigation expenses, that fact would not take the case out of the 

exception to the automatic stay. Such expenses implicate no FTC pecuniary 

interest in the bankruptcy estate. Further, “Congress by excepting certain actions 

from the automatic stay provision recognized that the debtor would likely incur 

litigation expenses as a result of any excepted lawsuit.” Rath Packing Co., 767 

F.2d at 325.  

If the Court nevertheless concludes that the stay exception does not apply, 

the Court should stay the appeal only with respect to Endo. Impax, a non-debtor, is 

not entitled to the protection of the Bankruptcy Code automatic stay. In similar 

circumstances, courts have disaggregated proceedings involving both debtors and 

non-debtors. See Seiko Epson Corp. v. Nu-Kote Intern., Inc., 190 F.3d 1360, 1364 

(Fed. Cir. 1999). That approach would be appropriate here. Continuation of the 

allegedly unlawful agreement would allow Impax to continue to charge supra-

competitive, monopoly prices for oxymorphone ER to the detriment of consumers. 

The sooner the FTC can secure an injunction against the agreement, the sooner 

consumers should realize the benefit of lower prices from competitive entry by 

Endo or third parties.  
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II. IF THE COURT REINSTATES THE BRIEFING SCHEDULE, IT SHOULD 
PROVIDE THE FTC AT LEAST 30 DAYS TO FILE ITS OPENING BRIEF 

Until the Court suspended the briefing schedule on August 18, 2022, the 

FTC’s opening brief was due September 12, 2022. Because of the uncertainty 

associated with suspension of the briefing schedule, the FTC respectfully requests 

that it be afforded at least 30 days to file its opening brief from the date that the 

Court reinstates the briefing schedule. In addition, the FTC requests that the Court 

allow the parties to seek, if necessary, an adjustment to all deadlines once briefing 

resumes. The parties negotiated the suspended schedule in light of workloads and 

holidays, and depending upon when briefing resumes, they may need to ask for an 

adjustment in those deadlines. 
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CONCLUSION 

The Court should reinstate the briefing schedule for the reasons set forth 

above.  

   Respectfully submitted, 

 ANISHA S. DASGUPTA 
General Counsel 

JOEL MARCUS 
Deputy General Counsel 

 
September 7, 2022 /s/ Mark S. Hegedus   

MARK S. HEGEDUS 
Attorney 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20580 
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